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PREFACE

The history of Adams County properly dates from the month of De-
cember, in the year 1790, when Nathaniel Massie and his little band of
hardy frontiersmen began the erection of the Stockade at the Three
Islands on the present site of the town of Manchester. This was the
“pioneer corps” in the Virginia Military Reservation, in the Northwest
Terrltory, and was the beginning of the third permanent white settle-
ment in the State of Ohio.

This settlement was begun at a time when the Indian denizens of the
region were waging the most cruel and most relentless warfare in the
history of the country, against the border settlements of Virginia and
Kentucky; and, it was maintained by its brave and vigilant founders,
without Federal assistance, until the close of hostilities at the Treaty of
Greenville in 1795.

From the Stockade as a base of supplies, and as a place of refuge in
case of attack, these daring adventurers explored by stealth the remotest
parts of the Reservation, and entered and surveyed the most desirable
lands of the region. They prepared the way for those patriots of the
Revolution who came with their families to establish their future homes
here, and to lay, ultimately, the foundation of one of the greatest States
of the Union.

To preserve in book-form the history of the founding of Adams
County and of the growth and development of its resources; to preserve
for future generations the story of the lives of the pioneers and their de-
scendants, that their virtues may be emulated and their achievements
appreciated, is the intended mission of this volume. To what extent
the Compilers have succeeded in the accomplishment of their designs,
must be determined by the reader.

The volume is composed of four books:

A GENERAL History oF ApAMs CounTty ; THE TowNsHIP HISTORIES;
CHARACTER SKETCHES OF THE PIONEERS ; and, BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

A feature of the volume is the very complete Index.

Grateful acknowledgement is hereby made to the public-spirited
persons, both residents and non-residents of Adams County, who by their
kindly offices greatly lightened the task of the Compilers in collecting and
preserving the matter for this volume.

E. B. S.

N. W. E.
Qctober 30. 1900.
(111)
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HISTORY OF ADAMS COUNTY

CHAPTER 1
OUTLINE SKETCH OF ADAMS COUNTY

ApaMs CouNTy is one of the oldest in Ohio. It was formed July 10,
1797, by proclamation of Arthur St. Clair, Governor of the Northwest Ter-.
ritory. The elder Adams was then President of the United States, and
St. Clair named the county in his honor. The civil organization of the
county was effected Tuesday, September 12, 1797, at Manchester, the site
of the first white settlement in thé Virginia. Reservation, and the third in
Ohio. There were three counties organized in Ohio before Adams,
namely : Washington, Hamilton, and Wayne.

Adams County lies on the majestic Ohio, and borders Highland on the -
north, Scioto on the east, and Brown on the west. Pike joins at the north-
east'angle. The form of the county is rectangular, its longer sides being
its eastern and western boundary lines, and it contains six hundred and
twenty-five square .miles of surface. The original boundaries of the
county included the greater portion of the Virginia Reservation. On the
hydrographic charts of the state, Adams County is classed in the Scioto
Valley section, but it is properly designated an Ohio River county. "Its
system of drainage empties directly into the Ohio, except a small area in
the northeastern part drained by Scioto Brush Creek, a tributary of the
Scioto River.

Few counties of the state surpass Adams in the number and size of
its fine streams and creeks. The largest of these is Ohio Brush Creek, a
magnificent stream that flows through the central portion of the county
from the north and empties into the Ohio River. From the village of
Newport at the junction of its west and east branches to its mouth at the
Ohio, it traverses a distance of nearly forty miles, and for the greater por-
tion of its course attains the magnitude of a small river. In the days of
the old iron furnaces their products were transported a portion of the year
in barges from “Old Forge Dam” to the Ohio. A system of slackwater
navigation on Ohio Brush Creek was at one time contemplated by the state
when the iron furnaces were in operation there. In an article in the WEsT-
ERN PIONEER George Sample states that in 1806, he loaded two flat boats
with flour at his residence on Ohio Brush Creek and took them from there
to New Orleans. Hundreds of rafts of logs used to be floated from the
vicinity of the Sproull bndge during good stages of water, while the lower
course of the creek could b€ used almost the entire year.

Next in size and importance to Ohio Brush Creek is the West Fork,
really the parent stream, which takes its source near Bernard in Eagle

&)



4 HISTORY OF ADAMS COUNTY

Township, Brown County, and flows southeasterly, entering Adams
County at the northwest, crossing Winchester and Scott Townships and
uniting with the East Fork at the village of Newport on the western border
of Meigs Township. It receives from the north the waters of Little West
Fork which drains the northern part of Winchester Township; and Buck
Run and Georges Creek which drain Scott Township. From the south-
west it receives Elk Run on the western border of Scott, and Cherry Fork,
a fine stream that drains Wayne and the western portion of Oliver Town-
ship. S

The East Fork takes its source at the junction of the “Three Forks,”
Baker’s, Middle and West, in the northern portion of Bratton Township.
It is a beautiful stream nearly or quite as large as the West Fork, but
differing from it in that its channel is cut in the flinty limestone while the
former is furrowed deep in the blue limestone. It flows from the north-
east across Bratton Township and the northwestern portion of Meigs, and
unites with West Fork at the village of Newport. Its principal tributary
from the east is Crooked Creek which rises in Franklin Township, while
‘from the west it receives the waters of Little East Fork, the source of
which is in the eastern portion of Scott Township.

Scioto Brush Creek, the waters of which drain the eastern portion
of the county, is a fine stream and one of the most picturesque. It rises
in Jefferson Township near the center, flows north and then east entering
Scioto County and thence the Scioto River near Rushtown, a few miles
north of Portsmouth. The principal tributary of Scioto Brush Creek in
Adams County is Blue Creek which rises on the border of Greene Town-
ship within six miles of -the Ohio River and flows-north receiving the
waters of Churn Creek near Blue Creek postoffice in Jefferson Township.
Near this point it unites with Burley’s Run and forms Scioto Brush Creek.
Turkey Creek rises near Steam Furnace in Meigs Township, flows south-
east and unites with Scioto Brush Creek in Jefferson Township, near
Wamsleyville. ’

The North Fork of Scioto Brush Creek rises in Franklin Township,
flows southeast receiving the waters of Cedar Fork and unites with Scioto
Brush Creek in Scioto County. Lower T'win Creek rises on the southern
‘border of Jefferson Township and flows south into the Ohio River near
Rockville. Stout’s Run is a small stream that rises in the hills of Jeffer-
son Township and enters the Ohio at the village of Rome in Greene town-
ship. The west central portion of Adams County is drained by the East
Fork of Eagle Creek which rises near West Union and flows southwest
receiving from the north Hill’s Fork and from the south Kite’s Fork, in
Liberty Township, and thence crosses the Brown County line and unites
with the West Fork of Eagle Creek at Stevenson’s Mill in Byrd Town-
ship. Big Three Mile and Little Three Mile each rise in Sprigg Township
‘and flow southwest into the Ohio River. Lick Fork of Ohio
Brush Creek rises near West Union and flows northeast uniting with the
latter near Dunkinsville. Beasley’s Fork has its source near that of Lick
"Fork, courses to the southeast across Monroe Township and enters Ohio
Brush Creek. :

The surface of Adams County is diversified. In the west central and
northwest it is flat or gently undulating. In the central and northern
portions it is more broken, the hills are more lofty, their tops being gently
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rounded or spread out in broad table lands. In the east the surface is very

broken,.there are high ridges and lofty hills, with many knobs reaching -
an elevation of a thousand feet, and some nearly fourteen hundred feet

above the sea level, as.for instance, Peach Mountain in the southeast corner

of Meigs Township. and Greenbriar in Jefferson Township.. On the top

of the former is a large farm in a fine state of cultivation. In the south

bordering the Ohio River is a range of beautiful hills, some almost attain- -
ing the altitude of mountains, affording a stretch of scenery far more beau-

tiful and picturesque than any view along the highlands of the Hudson.

The valley of Ohio. Brush Creek far surpasses in beauty, and equals in fer-

tility of soil that of either the Miami or Scioto, while along its principal

tributaries are some of the finest farms in the state.- Along Scioto Brush

Creek and its tributaries, the valleys are deep and narrow but very fertile;

and the neat farms with comfortable homes nestling under the shadow of.
the emerald-capped hills, present a most delightful picture of rural life.

Being in the sandstone region the water of the streams is soft and very

clear, appearing in the deeper pools to be a deep azure blue. :

The lands of Adams County, from an agricultural stand, are generally
considered poor by those unfamiliar with its soils. But this impression is
erroneous. While there is some poor or unproductive soil throughout the
county, and especially in the hilly portions, vet-there is a very great deal
of good lands in every section. In pioneer days the eastern part of the
county lying within the Waverly sandstone section was considered as of no
value except for the timber and tanbark it afforded; and the scattered in-
habitants were spoken of as a “vagrant class” of “coon hunters and bark
peelers” by an early historian of the state, whose statements are copied by
many of the succeeding writers of Ohio history down to the present time,
just as some geographers yet place the old town of Alexandria at the
mouth of the Scioto on their maps. But today this section contains many
fine farms. The valley lands are rich, and many of the hillsides produce
goods crops of hay and corn, while some of them grow crops of fine white
burley tobacco. In fact this is the tobacco section of the county. And the
inhabitants instead of being a vagrant class of “coon hunters” are generally
an industrious, intelligent and prosperous people. It is true, ignorance
and poverty exist there, as in all communities. The western portion of
the county, including all of Winchester Township and a portion of Scott,
Wayne, Liberty and Sprigg, lies within the blue limestone belt and the
soil is fairly productive of crops of wheat, oats, corn, and in the valleys,
tobacco ; and the entire section when properly cared for produces excellent
crops of timothy and clover hay. Some of the most productive farms of
the county are on the uplands in the cliff limestone section in the south
central part of the county, while the coves in Tiffin, Monroe, Wayne
and Scott Townships have long been celebrated for their productiveness.
The central portion of Adams County with its numerous streams and
never failing springs affords the finest grazing lands in southern Ohio,
and the sheep and cattle industry is the chief source of wealth in this
section.

The thickly grown virgin forest that once clothed the county
contained a great variety of the most valuable timber. In the west
there were extensive tracts of level lands heavily timbered with the finest
specimens of hickory, white oak, beech and white maple. Recently a
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white oak tree was felled in Liberty Township, which measured over seven
feet across the stump. In the southwest and along the Ohio River grew
the largest specimens of buckeye, red oak, black walnut, red elm and black
maple. In the cliff limestone region, especially about West Union in
Tiffin Township and on Gift Ridge in Monroe Township, grew the gigantic
yellow poplar, and the largest specimens of black maple, with areas in-
terspersed with hickory, white oak, ash and black walnut. Along the
waters of the West Fork of Ohio Brush Creek and its tributaries were
forests of black maple, red oak, dogwood, and in the coves and rich loams,
the largest growths of wild cherry and.black walnut, while in the bottoms
on the borders of the streams grew enormous sycamores with their
whitened trunks resembling columns of Carrara marble. On the hillsides
and ridges in the section east of Ohio Brush Creek and extending to the
Waverly sandstone region of Scioto Brush Creek were forests of white
oak, chestnut oak, black oak, chestnut, spruce and cedar. The eastern
section on the hills and knobs grew spruce, cedar and chestnut; and in the
coves and valleys beech, maple, oak and yellow poplar. There were many
specimens of yellow poplar in this region that measured over eight feet in
diameter. On the farm of Finley Wamsley near the Wamsleyville
bridge over Scioto Brush Creek was a yellow poplar tree which measured
ten feet in diameter. When felled and cut into eighteen-inch stove wood
it made thirty-eight cords, which would equal thirteen cords of wood of
one hundred and twentv-eight solid feet to the cord. On the farm of
Phillip Kratzer on Johnson’s Run in Jefferson Township, stood an oak
tree which measured nearly seven feet in diameter and made three thou-
sand staves. A sycamore at the mouth of Cedar Run on the farm of
William Moore was large enough to drive a horse into and turn it around
within it.

Adams County has the best and most extensive system of macada-
mized roads of any county in Ohio. The beginning of this system was the
old road known as the Maysville and Zanesville Turnpike constructed in
the period of internal improvements by the States. President Jackson
vetoed a bill providing for the construction of this road by the general
government in 1830. Afterwards the state of Ohio committed itself to a
system of internal improvements of its highways, under the provisions of
which the construction of the Maysville and Zanesville turnpike was
undertaken. The company was incorporated by act of the Legislature and
the county subscribed one-half of the capital stock. It was a toll road and .
for many years paid large dividends to the stockholders. The length of
the part completed in Adams County was about thirteen miles, beginning
at the Brown County line and ending at the residence of the late Doddridge
Darlinton in West Union. John Leonard, of West Union, who came from
Belgium to Adams County in 1837 and Michael Warloumount, who then
kept a small store at Bradyville, completed the first mile of this road in
1838, beginning at the lower end of Bradyville and extending through
the village toward Bentonville. The next three miles were built by John
Brotherton ; the next two miles by James and Peter McKee, beginning
near Union Church; the next two miles by Hugh Clarke; and the next
two by a Mr. Allison. John Schwallie built the first two miles below
Bradyville, and Michael Dietz the next mile ending at the Brown County
line. Abraham Hollingsworth was superintendent of construction, and
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John Sparks treasurer of the company. The contractors were paid in
part in county scrip, consisting of small bills about the size of the “Lincoln
shinplasters,” in denominations of one, two, three, five and ten dollars.
These bore six per cent. interest. The road was purchased by the county
about twenty-five years ago and made a free turnpike.

From the close of the Civil War to the present time there have been
over three hundred miles of macadamized roads constructed in the county;
and the present system of free pikes reaches every hamlet, village and
town from its center at West Union to the remotest parts of the county.
This system of roads has done more than any other agency to develop the
resources of the county, and to add to the wealth and prosperity of the
people. In connection with this system of roads and as a part of it there
have been constructed hundreds of bridges across the numerous creeks
and streams, affording safe passage over them at all seasons of the year.
Many of these are wholly of iron and steel and are models of the best
ideas of American bridge work. )

Of the natural resources of the county its timber is fast becoming
depleted. The portable saw-mill has hastened the destruction of the finest
forests in every section of the county. The iron industries on Brush
Creek have long since been abandoned, and there is no prospect of their
revival under existing conditions. But the county has millions of dollars
of wealth in the ledges of building and paving stone not surpassed in
durability and beauty in any of the quarries of the world. With cheap
transportation which will eventually be provided, the products of these
quarries will become the source of untold wealth to the county.

The population of the county is largely descendant from two principal
sources: the Virginia pioneers, and the Scotch-Irish who came at a later
period. There is a small German element whose ancestors came about
1850. In religion each of these elements is Protestant, the first two very
largely of the Presbyterian faith. There never has been but one Catholic
Church in the county and that is now abandoned for lack of membership.

Population of Adams County.

g‘he following table shows the population of the county at the periods
stated: :

Years. 1800 1810 1820 1830 1840 1850
| 10,400 |
Population........uuueereereeeennn. 3,432 | 9,484 l 10,406 | 12,288 | 13,183 | 18,888
Years. 1860 1870 1880 1890 1900

Population ........cccevuueeeeivennnes 20,809 | 20,750 | 24,006 | 26,093 |............
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Population of Townships and Towns.

iTownships. 1820 | 1830 | 1840 | 1850 | 1860 | 1870 { 1880 | 1890 | 1900
Bratton.......... ceesncerasefecencenne]ee PSRN P 1,053 11,090 |.........
Greene...... 1,807 |1,086 | 1,620 [1,529 |1,833 [1,886 | 2,028 | ........
Liberty ....... 1,308 | 1,498 | 1,504 | 1,644 1877 1,356 | 1,246 |.........
Franklin. .......ccooeeeenneferseeeea. 1,802 11,856 | 1,963 | 2,261 2172 1,641 | 1,694 |.........
Jefferson........ ceenneneees] 916 1,001 | 987 (1,680 | 1,845 2268 3,444 | 8,947 |.........
MelgB.civiiieennconnnnnennes 2,001 {1,182 | 1,068 | 1,438 |1,548 1748 2,124 | 2,645 |.........
Scott........ 10128 |1)342 | ‘916 |1.818 [ 1.327 1,409 | 1,192 | 1132 [conniiit
MONroe ..ccceeevnneeenneend 783 | 807 | 832 1,193 {1,206 | 1,304 | 1,400 |1,480 |.........

ceveneos seesesnsenness| 1,028 | 1,141 | 1,640 {1,080 |1,787 |1,858 | 2,212 | 2,600 |.........
Oliver.. ceevocas seeseses|essecess [eenseeees| 1,060 {1,089 |1,084 | 1,061 [.........
Sprigg..... ...| 1,662 (1,679 {1,976 12,118 |2,619 | 2,086 | 2,662 |2,625 | ........
ayne.......... ceeeee| 771 |1,088 1682 11,191 (1,169 1,125 |1,181 |.........
‘Winchester ... ecoveee]orerane]ieeree ..(1,121 | 1,698 | 1,668 | 1,475 | 1,464 | 1,488 |.........
e onefosennee]srnaneens ceseeene 1,988 |.ceeuunee

1,493 | 1,988

564 | 720

626 | 826

West Union...............

Statistics of the Year 1800.

Horses. Cattle. Sheep Hogs.
Townships.
No. | Value. [ No. | Value. | No. | Value. | No. | Value.
Bratton ...... 216 | $0.960 | 430 kxs,ns 468 | $1,405 | 703 | $3,406
Franklin... 206 | 6,950 | 436 | 9,346 | 436 | 1,250 | 280 1,120
Greene—
Rome Precinct............... 112 | 5265|241 | 4,000 | 21 40 | 220 520
Sandy Springs Precinct.| 78 | 2,685 | 106 | 1,756 | 193 625 | 82 285
Jefferson —
Cedar Mills Precinct...... 220 | 5,060 | 370 | 4,920 | 217 414 1,246
Churn Creek ........... .| 166 | 3,760 | 177 | 1,792 | 88 84 | 188 370
Lynx....... .| 85| 8260|243 | 4,130 | 69 170 | 218 602
amsleyvill 116 | 3,196 | 196 | 3,285 | 70 1756 | 211 425
Liberty 358 | 18,7566 |1220 | 21,160 |17656 | 6,806 |1209 4,602
Manchester........ 116 | 268! 711 1 675 R wee | 68 206
Meigs—
Jacksonville Precinct.....| 280 |.......... | 685 |.......... | 348 |. ........ | 794 |............
Mineral Springs Precin’t 182 | 8,610 | 260 | 2,695 | 108 280 | 352 704
Monroe........ . 268 | 7,925 | 502 | 6,170 | 124 490 | 372 1,116
Oliver 413 | 8440 | 6520 | 1,695 | 631 1,046
gco;t . 808 | 14,580 | 770 | 2,828 |1206 2,940
r
l;Ben%onville Precinct......| 202 | 7,830 | 650 | 10,160 | 217 | 1,500 | 539 2,016
Bradyville Precinct.. 263 | 7,462 | 608 | 8,647 | 446 | 1,640 | 764 2,038
Tifin..eeciceeeeeeennnee . 625 | 16,850 11286 | 21,440 | 616 | 1,830 (1271 2,542
Wayne..... ceeeeeenee ...| 878 | 18,826 | 774 | 12,760 | 765 | 2,330 (2009 4,560
Winchester......ceecee cecerennen. 410 | 15,7 913 | 16,010 | 844 | 38,625 | 705 3,045
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Lands.

Townships. v(::ltt; Pasture. E’:gfl' Waste. Total. Value.
Bratton ..... 6,665 | 7,638 | 3,646 1,708 | 19.587 $184,860
Franklin... 6,372 | 6, 551 4,794 2,625 | 20,342 141,990
Greene-

Rome Precinct........ 3,141 1,572 | 4,879 1,692 | 11,284 294,500
Sandy Springs ........| 1,760 520 1,296 5,863 9, 429}
Jefferson— ) C ’
Cedar Mills Precinct| 3,552 2,117 4,660 1,041 11,370
Churn Creek Precint| 2,667 1,241 | 4,65 1,620 | 10,428 270,690
Lynx Precinct.........] 2,257 1,451 2,621 1,638 7,867 | '
Wameleyvme Prec..., 2,636 1,180 4,968 796 9 476 J
Liberty coceeeeeecnececnennnnes 6,026 | 12,911 3, 587 18 22 542 821,520
Manchester ...........c..ee. 208 174 b7 I 469 252,740
Meigs—

Jacksonville............] 5885 | 3912 | 4,601 1,212 | 15610 269710
Min. Springs...........,] 8,068 | 1518 | 5,090 '949 10,626 ’
MODTroe .cccvveieririernennensss) 4,699 | 8,353 | 3,828 8,186 ! 15,076 188,770
Oliver... . 6,227 | 65,162 | 4.864 887 | 17,140 147,620
gcott ..... vecvees seeaseennanees] 6,346 | 7,317 | 3,494 672 | 17,829 264,830

rigg—

P Bentonvllle Precinct] 4,674 | 6,876 | 1,376 241 18,166 369.020
Bradyvxlle Precinct.| 6,362 | 4,006 | 1,064 362 | 12,683 ’
Tiffin coveeeriinnnencenenes weees| 7,461 | 11,899 | 7,427 2,329 | 28,616 823,280
Wayne . .. 5412 7,408 | 2,833 393 | 16,046 264,160
Winchester ......cccounveene. 6,634 | 10,771 | 2,498 3256 | 20,228 828,830

91,817 | 97,875 | 72,118 27,947 | 289,767 3,647,120

Soldiers of the War of the Rebellion.

TOWNSHIPS,
Bratton ......cceeueee.. cereerartennsansesnanane ceeee.seseeseteeees sasessrssesstetesene sesasancence censenns OO
Franklin ....cccooeeeennnnnnae ceeeresnnansenee e seessssccsastasressnssnetsnssnnsnesnns vereee. 38
Greene—
ai ROME PreCINCt couuuiiiiiiniien ticeiiniencetianencetocessssssiesecsssossssss sasssensssansesescenses O
Sandy Springs ........cccceeeieiecrniennenne ceereneeererannens eereesuransesensnanessassnnsesessesses 17
Jefferson— .
Cedar Mills Precinct..........cc.cuu.. cenesrnesenseratiantae RN cressoessnes srreesersereseess 16
Churn Creek Precinct............ . e
Lynx
Wamsleyville .
LADEILY wveirerenerence covvnenciiieinneeens surtseerennesessanens sosesesssssesssnesssscnnnne
Manchester.... .
Meigs—
Jacksonville..... 57
Mineral Springs 32
Monroe ........ 25
[0) 11/ SRR .. 27
gcott ceesesaeteionasestacsssssnssansssssasasssnsaenes SO
rigg—
P Bgntonvme wee teesessessesssncnsnsssransese F T RTPRRURRRTRRRPRRIY | |
Bndyvllle.. ..... vee taseee sressenes sesseserserenne o ceannens cerees . 38
o1 3 N ereeseeneaens " ki
Wayne........... ereresnasaneens sossesensace 42

WD CHEBLET . e e ceeriearencrtentens tecisessasassersocscssrocons sesne sensssstsaresasarassasnsascssassasanse OB



CHAPTER I

* GEOLOGY AND MINERALOGY

There has never been but one geological survey of Adams County,
and that was made by Prof. John Locke, Assistant State Geologist. in
1838. There is a more recent report but it does not at all cover the county.
Prof. Locke’s report is so comprehensive and withal so plain that anyone
by reading it may acquire much valuable knowledge of the geological
formations of Adams County. It is however necessary to note some
changes in classification and nomenclature in accordance with present
usage. Reference to the map of the county in this volume will greatly
assist the reader in fixing the relative position of places and localities.

The rocks of Adams County are so well defined and so various as to
render it a model of stratification. It embraces a varied series, including
different strata, extending from the blue limestone [Cincinnati group]
to the fine-grained [Waverly] sandstone. The strata are of nearly a
uniform thickness, and nearly uniformly inclined east nine and one-half
degrees south, at the rate of about 37.4 feet per mile, or a little more than
100 feet in three miles. In the direction of north, nine and one-half de-
grees east, a line on the strata or layers of rocks is level just as the sloping
roof of a house is level in a line parallel to the ridge or eaves. This is
called the line of bearing, while the line at right angles to it is called the
line of dip. If the rocks of Adams County were continued onward as they
now lie, until they filled up the surface of the county to the height of 500
feet above the level of low water of the Ohio River at Cincinnati, the
several layers of rocks running up a slope from the east, and cut off by
this level surface, would present at that surface, several belts of various
widths, running in the direction of the line of bearing. If the county were
sliced down by cutting off level horrizontal layers so as to reduce it in
height successively to 400, 300, 200, and 100 feet, it would still present
the same belts of surface having the same width, but removed each time a
little more that three miles to the east of the place which they formerly
occupied. [Place seven pennies one upon another on a level surface; then
push them over to the southeastward until their edges rest upon the plane,
with each penny covering about one-half the surface of the one next
beneath. Then the position of these pennies will fairly correspond to the
position of the seven layers of rocks in the county, beginning with the
blue limestone and ending with the fine-grained sandstone.—Ep.] The
several layers of rocks of Adams County are. beginning at the bottom:

* From Locke's Report. with notes and comments by the Editor.

(10)
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First. Blue limestone of indefinite thickness.

Second. Bluemarl.,........cciiiiiiiiiiiiiienanns 25 feet.
Third. Flinty limestone...........cccovvvviiinnn ., 51 feet.
Fourth. Bluemarl...........cciiiiiiiiiiiiinnn. 100 feet.
Fifth. CIlff limestone...........coivviiiiiinnnennn 89 feet
Sixth, Slate .......coviiiiiiiiininiiiiveeernn.. 251 feet.
Seventh. Fine-grained sandstone.................... 343 feet.

[The more recent classification is, beginning at the bottom: Cincinnati
or Trenton, Clinton, Niagara, Water Lime, Corniferous, Erie Shale, and
Waverly.—ED.] These sections lie over each other like shingles on the
roof of a house. We will now proceed to describe the belts or “out-
cropping”’ edges of the several strata, supposing the surface of the county
to be a plane 500 feet higher than low water of the Ohio. ’

First. The blue limestone would extend from the west into the
southwest corner of the county, only about one mile; into the northwest
corner about four and a half miles, where it would disappear under the
marl and continue onward to the eastward, sloping deeper and deeper, no
one knows how far.

Second. The blue limestone would be succeeded eastwardly by a belt
of an outcropping of marl two-thirds of a mile wide.

Third. The belt of flinty limestone, one ane one-third miles wide.

Fourth. The belt of the great marl layers three miles wide.

Fifth. The belt of the cliff limestone two and one-half miles wide.

Sixth. The belt of slate six and two-thirds miles wide.

Seventh. The belt of sandstone occupying rest of county and about
ten miles wide. '

Now as the surface of the county is not level, it does not actually
exhibit such belts but only such an approximation to them as the surface is
to a level. The western part of the county consists of blue limestone about
500 feet high, as at Fairview. West Union and some hills to the west of it
shows the cliff limestone rising to 600 and 700 feet. The bed of Ohio
Brush Creek again is in the blue limestone, because it is excavated to
near the level of the base line, being only twenty or thirty feet above it.
Cherry Fork and nearly all of the branches about Winchester in the north-
west part of the county are also in the blue limestone, and seem to descend
on the regular slope of the stratification. Above the Marble Furnace,
the bed of East Fork is in the flinty limestone [Clinton] and finally in
Highland County rises in the cliff [Niagara] limestone. It will be seen
that most of the tributaries of Ohio Brush Creek are on the west side of
it; those from the east being short and few in number. This results from
the dip of the strata and the natural surface conforming to it. The slopes
to the east, on the inclined surface of the stratification, are broad and
gradual, but those to the west are abrupt and narrow, being over the
escarpments or upturned ends of the several layers. The cliff limestone,
the marl and the flint limestone at West Union, are what are called “out-
liers,” a kind of geological island, as they are cut off on every side from
the main body of the same layer and stand out above. They are cut off
on the west by outcropping; on the north by Cherry Fork; on the east by
Ohio Brush Creek, and on the south by the Ohio River, all of which have
their beds in the blue limestone. . '
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West Union is over 600 feet above low: water at Cincinnati, overlook-
ing the whole surrounding country except some outliers, Bald Hill and
Cave Hill, to the northwest, and the very elevated knobs of slate and sand-
stone east of Ohio Brush Creek. As the great marl stratum underlies the
cliff limestone, the descents from West Union over the cliff and marl are
very abrupt. The marl being soft, and, during wet weather, treading into
a bottomless mortar, requires the roads over it to be stoned.

From West Union to Treber’s on Lick Fork, the followmg section
with thickness of strata is observed:

Clff limestone. .......ciiiiiiiiiiiininineennnennns 89 feet.
Marl oottt i e e e 106 feet.
Flinty limestone............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiannn.. 51 feet.
Marl .. e e e, 25 feet.
Blue limestone. ............c.coiiiiiiiiii i, 25 feet.

THE CLIFF LIMESTONE (86 feet thick) at West Union consists of
three layers partially blended into each other. The first or upper part is
a rough, porous, soft limestone, filled with cavities which have been oc-
cupied by fossil animals, and which have decayed out. These cavities are
lined with a dark colored bitumen. It produces good lime. The second
or middle portion of this cliff limestone, is aluminous and arenaceous, of
a slaty structure, dark gray color, and comparatively hard. The third and
bottom portion is more sandy. It is massive, light colored, rather free
to work and is quarried as a building stone. It has been opened in
Darlinton’s Quarry at the head of Beasly’s Fork in a stratum twenty feet
thick. Both this and the second or slaty layers effervesce but slightly with
acids, and on solution in acid, leave a fine sediment or mud consisting of
clay and fine sand and there rises on the surface of the solution a film of
bitumen. They contain about 60 per cent. of carbonate of lime, but do not
slake perfectly after burning. If pulverized after calcination, and mixed
with sand, they harden under water, and might be used for hydraulic
cement.

THE GREAT MARL STRATUM (106 feet thick) forms the immediate
sharp descent of the various hills around West Union. When lying un-
disturbed it has the blue color common to clay, and is evidently stratified.
When decomposed by the frost and weather, it becomes lighter in color
and, dried, becomes almost white. It is earthy, highly effervescent, con-
tains a few fossils, and has thin layers of slaty limestone two or three
inches thick, traversing it at remote distances. The great marl deposit
forms, according to circumstances, three different sorts of soil.

First. When it forms a slope under the cliffs,as it does at West Union
and numerous other places, the water from above flows over it, and it
produces the sugar tree and becomes covered with a rich mold suitable
for wheat or corn. If it lies in a steep declivity, it is liable, after the
trees are removed, to slip in large avalanches, blasting entirely the hopes of
the husbandman.

Second. When the natural level surface coincides with the great
marl stratum, as it does for some distance north of West Union, the soil
is rather inferior, and produces a forest of white oak. Such plains are
called white oak flats.
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Third. When it is left in conical mound-like “outliers,” the marl
11s otten barren of trees, and produces some peculiar prairie-like plants, as
the prarie docks, wild sunflowers, etc. These places are called “bald hills”
and “buffalo beats.” Several occur within a mile of West Union in a
northerly direction, and would be quite a paradise for the botanist.

, THE FLINTY LIMESTONE (51 feet thick), like the blue limestone, lies
in thin layers interstratified with marl, but it differs from the blue lime-
stone in color, in fossils, and especially in having certain layers which
abound in silicious matter, or are flinty. In the layers of stone the flinty
matter is intimately combined in a crystalline rock, and not in any degree
sedimentary or sand-like, as it Is in the lower layers of the cliff stratum.

The upper layer of the flinty limestone is peculiarly marked. It is
about one foot thick, and contains so much silex that it has the sharp con-
choidal or flinty fracture, and gives fire with steel. In some places it is
“crackeled,” or broken into small triangular and diamond-shaped blocks,
by vertical fractures or seams. In other places it occurs in large slabs and
would be useful as a building stone. It is hard, but breaks or “spalls”
easily. Nothing could be better for macadamizing than this rock. It is
harder than the blue limestone and contains lime enough to form a final
cement after packing. It is feebly effervescent, contains iron, is of a
reddish or brown color outside, but has a pale or opal-like .blue when
freely fractured. No rock in our part of the country is more duable. In
the cliffs where it has been exposed for ages it is not in the least weathered,
but retains perfectly its sharp edges and angles. I have met with it at
every point where the channels have been deep enough to reach it. [On
the right bank of Lick Fork at the “old deer lick” nearly the whole of this
stratum is exposed. The salt at “the lick” is not table salt but an epsom
salt, sulphate of magnesia. —ED ]

GREEN BURRH STONE is a “calcareo-silicious rock,” occurring in de-
tached semi-nodular masses, immediately on top of the flinty stratum, not
general, but only locally presented. It is compact and flinty, of an agree-
able apple-green color, rough and cellular, often comtaining liquid bitu-
men, -white crystals. of carbonate of lime and some fossils. It is to be
seen in the greatest perfection on the descent into Soldier’s Run, just above
the site of Groom’s old mill. It is said to equal the Raccoon burrh stone.

INFERIOR MARL STRATUM (25 feet thick) is the common blue clay
marl, and has nothing peculiar, except at “the lick” it includes a thin
slaty layer of bluish limestone, similar to that in the great marl deposit,
except the stem-like bodies are on the under side of it, and two or three
inches in diameter.

THE BLUE LIMESTONE, of indefinite thickness, with its characteristic
fossils, commences in the bed of Lick Fork, within a mile below “the lick.”
Two peculiar subjects which occur in it below Treber’s, and about fifty
feet below the top of its stratification, claim our attention. These are a
peculiar waved stratum, and a large species of trilobite. The waved strata
occur in the cliff, the flinty and in the blue limestone ; the under side is flat
and smooth; the upper is fluted in long troughs two to three feet wide,
called “rlpple marks.” The trilobite found was the isotelus maximus and
measured twenty-one inches in length.
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Bald Hill and Cave Hill.

These are “outliers” of the cliff limestone similar to that of West
Union, and lie to the north and west of it. In altitude, as they are in “a
direction from West Union directly opposite to the “dip,” they are higher
than West Union; Bald Hill about fifty feet and Cave Hill one hundred
feet. Bald Hill is quite an insulated elevation and would be an excellent
observatory in a trigonometrical survey of the country. [Cave Hill was
the location of one of the stations in the late geodetic survey by the general
government.—ED. ]

Split Rock Hill,

This elevation is on Ohio Brush Greek near “Old Forge Dam,”
The ascent was made in company with Mr. John Fisher, and the section
was found to be almost identical with that at West Union except that the
little marl deposit seemed to be encroached upon by stone, and slate caps
the top of the hill as an outlier. .

The following are the heights of the several points indicated by the
barometer :

Mr. Fisher’s house [in bottom at the old forge] above

low water mark at Cincinnati.................... 82 feet.
Top of the blue limestone...................ooveen 100 feet.
Top of the flinty limestone......................... 189 feet.
Bottom of the cliff limestone........................ 327 feet.
Topof cliff... ...ttt 465 feet.
Top of the hill........... e e e 524 feet.

The great marl deposit here which seems to be thickened to 136 feet,
presents a broad slope of “coveland” on the hillside covered with a fine
growth of sugar trees. A narrow spur of the cliff about three-fourths of
a mile southeast of the forge forms an insulated and almost inaccessible
rock, which is quite a curiosity. It is fifty-three feet high, presenting a
level terrace on the top ninety-two feet by thirty-six feet. The upper
part of it is a tolerably pure limestone, the lower part is a loose
arenaceous limestone filled with large corallines, and disintegrating
by atmospheric agency, has been reduced ten to twenty feet in
width, leaving the upper portion standing like a head on a small
neck. Three sides of this are overhanging and inaccessible. At the fourth
side it has been split from the contiguous hill, and the cliff has opened
about two feet, from which circumstance I gave it the name “Split Rock.”
It is remarkable that though thus insulated and scarcely covered with
soil, the flat top bears a great number of herbs and small trees. I made a
catalogue of what I saw there: Red oak, black oak, chestnut oak, cedar,
pine, ash, sycamore, water maple, box-elder, red-bud, butternut, hazel,
hornbean, hydrangea, sumac, three-leaved sumac,” Juneberry, mullein,
balm, sandwort, yellow flax, sassafras, grass—four species, soxifrage,
white plantain, columbine, eupatonium, ferns—four species, hounds-
tounge, strawberry, blackberry, raspberry, huckleberry, cinquefoil, thistle,
garlic. It is evident that Split Rock is concave and contains a reservoir
of water to which the roots of the plants descend. Immediately above
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Split Rock and beyond the cliff, commences a gradual swell of soil formed
by the disintegration of slate, and produces cedar, pine, and chestnut oak,
which last tree, in this vicinity, furnishes the tanner’s bark.

Furaace Hill Near Brush Creek Furnace.

In company with Mr. John Fisher and Mr. James K. Stewart, pro-
prietors of the furnace, we ascended to the southeast, and presently came
to the slate or shale formations. The rock does not crop out but exfoliated
masses of slate appear in the soil in scales one to two inches in diameter,
and perhaps an eighth of an inch in thickness. Undershrubs became
abundant. I was forcibly reminded of the origin of the name of the con-
tiguous stream [Brush Creek]. The huckleberry bushes with ripe fruit
abounded in the open places. Among other trees, the chestnut begins to
show itself, which is, I believe, scarcely seen to grow in the limestone
regions. After ascending several sharp acclivities, one of thirty degrees
and another of thirty-five, we came to the fine-grained [Waverly] sand-
stone, where it had been quarried for furnace hearthstones, in a stratum
three feet thick. This point is 707 feet above low water at Cincinnati.
Ascending still further, we came to the top of the hill, where the barometer
stood 28.596 inches and the thermometer registered 61 degrees F., a cool
place for 10 A. M., July 12. This would give a height of 797 feet. The
top of this hill is a level terrace of several acres having a deep rich soil, and
producing a heavy growth of timber. It divides the water between
Cedar Run and Scioto Brush Creek. On descending we saw abundance
of game, squirrels, rabbits, and wild turkeys, and I was told that deer were
not uncommon.

Observations, Northwestern Part of the County.

From Sample’s Tavern at the “crossing” of Brush Creek, nine miles
from West Union, the ascent to Jacksonville presents a section almost
identical with that at West Union:

From the water to the bottom of the flint limestone is... 58 feet.

Flint limestone, 51 feet thick...................... 109 feet.
Top of marl, g6 feet thick................coovvune... 205 feet.
Jacksonville .......... it i i 281 feet.

The bed of Brush Creek is then twenty-five to thirty feet in the blue
limestone, and Jacksonville near the top of the cliff limestone. The surface
of the country from Brush Creek Furnace to the Steam Furnace, and from
Jacksonville to Locust Grove, lies on the cliff limestone, is nearly level,
with a thin soil, often ash-colored or almost white, producing naturally
white oaks. With good management it produces wheat, but some of ‘it
needs more nursing than it is likely to receive. The cliff stone in these
places is more porous and arenaceous than elsewhere, and at Locust
Grove it has disintegrated into a kind of sand and gravel through which
a plow may sometimes be driven. From Jacksonville to Locust Grove,
the stone, in its out-croppings, exhibits numerous nodules of sparry
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crystals which treasure hunters have christened “silver blossom,” and have
wasted valuable time in useless and absurd explorations. These sparry
nodules sometimes graduate or blend into a black substance, which gives
opacity, and the spar adds luster till there is an appearance quite like
Galena or lead ore. This has served:still further to excite the imagination
of dreamers.

Examination at the Steam Furnace. -

The stream on which the furnace stands is small, but yet has cut a
deep channel in the rocks; and falling rapidly below the furnace, presents
within one-fourth of a mile vertical cliffs, seventy feet to one hundred feet
high. " At the point where it has cut quite through the cliff and makes its
bed in the great marl stratum, the channel opens on the left into a slope
of thirty degrees, while the cliff is vertical or even overhanging on the
opposite side. The slope on the left is formed by the surface of the marl,
which having no other solid materials than the thin slaty limestone which
traverses it remotely, will not lie steeper than thirty degrees or five feet
of an elevation in ten. The continued rains of a wet season had so softened
the soil on the slope, which does not permit the water to sink away, that
with all its load of trees, rocks and springs, it had slidden into the stream
below, leaving the grooved blue clay marl bald for 100 feet in length up
and down the slope and 200 or 300 feet wide.

The Turk’s Head.

As this marl stratum extends over the whole of the eastern and
middle parts of the county, it presents in the valleys of the streams
peculiar slopes commencing immediately under the cliffs, where they
abound with ‘copious cool springs. Having a large portion of lime in its
composition, it communicates great fertility to the soil. It has already
been noticed that such lands are called “coves lands.” If this marl were
dug out and applied to the poor soil on the terrace of the cliff rocks, it
would undoubtedly fertilize it. The bluff opposite to this avalanche, is a
picturesque object, and its outline near the top resembles the proﬁle of a
Turk, and is called the “Turk’s Head.”

The rocks through this ravine are all feebly eﬂ‘ervescent The lower
portion, about twenty feet thick, is a tolerably quarry stone, and works
like a sandstone. ’the middle portion, fifteen or twenty feet thick, is
slaty in structure, but still contains lime. The remainder, sixty or
seventy feet, is a ragged nodular rock, including the ore beds.

Grassy Hill,

We made our approach to the hill one and one-half miles east of the
furnace over an old road, and first passed over the common oak terrace of
the cliff limestone. Gradually ascending "we came to the huckleberry
bushes and the chestnut trees, sure signs of the slate region, and finally,
leaving the beaten path, we entered the “tangled thicket,” to ascend the
sides of the terminal cone of the knob, where we learned practically the
origin of the name Brush Creek; for the brush was not merely close set,
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but numerous grapevines passing from one young chestnut to another,
horizontally, disputed every rod of our pass. On the slope sides was
abundance of a broad-leaved, cutting grass (andropogon) and a fern
(osmunda) both indicative of a wet soil. We finally arrived at the top,
which is a terrace 200 feet wide and 1,000 feet long, nearly destitute of
trees but covered with grass and copsewood. The height obtained,
barometically, was 735 feet above low water at Cincinnati. The top is
within the fine sandstone region, but that rock does not appear in place, or
in regular layers. Fragments of it are abundant, some of them bright
red, and so much rolled down the slopes that I was unable to determine
where the slate commences.

Valley of Scioto Brush Creek.

Ascending from the waters of Crooked Creek at Locust Grove, we
reached the summit between it and the waters of Scioto Brush Creek
within a half mile. From this point the knobs or slate hills, capped with
fine sandstone, are seen eastwardly ranging north and south to an in-
definite distance. Our first view.of Scioto Brush Creek showed it in a
deep channel in the cliff rock surmounted with cedars. So firm and thick
is that stone in this place that it sustains itself in overhanging cliffs, pro-
jecting over the water in places twenty feet. On the slopes of the hills the
stones have the form of stairs, with an occasional rise of twenty inches.
At Smalley’s, about six miles from Locust Grove, the cliff limestone is
covered by a slate hill, and sinking still deeper and deeper as it proceeds
on its line of the dip, disappears altogether beneath the surface a short dis-
tance to the eastward. Egl?n above or west of Smalley’s, on the north
side of the creek, the slate shows itself in a bald or perpendicular side or
mural escarpment of a knob.

Sulphur and Chalybeate Springs.

It is at the junction of the slate and limestone that the sulphurous and
chalybeate springs make their appearance. At Smalley’s and just above
the level of the contiguous stream, and a few feet below the top of the lime-
stone, is a spring discharging about fifty gallons of water per minute, at
the temperature of fifty-four degrees, and known in the vicinity as the
“Bxg Spring.” About ten feet above the spring commences the slate and
rises into a mountain capped with sandstone, fragments of which have
rolled to the base. There is about ten feet of clay between the limestone
and the slate. Along the base of this hill and at the margin of the fork,
the sulphur springs appear for a quarter of a mile. They are highly im-
pregnated with sulphuretted hydrogen, having the foeted smell, the naus-
eous taste, the black mud and the milky precnpitate on the waters.

The Slate on South Fork.

It stands often in cliffs 100 feet in height. It is separable into very v
fine plates and would seem to be fit for roofing but unfortunately on ex-
posure it crumbles. It is very bituminous, and when heated will burn
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with a bright flame. Sometimes the slate banks ignite and burn for sev-
eral days, but in general it will not support its own combustion. There
is no workable coal in the slate stratum. it contains sulphuret of iron
both in brassy and silver nodules, and imperceptibly blended with the slate
itself. This decomposing, forms copperas and alum which effloresce in
the clefts of the rocks, and by solution, form chalybeate water. The
slate also includes septaria ludus helmontii, or large rounded masses of
impure blue limestone, often a little flattened and cleft, the interior being
filled with sparry crystals of carbonate of lime, or sulphate of baryta.
About one-fourth of a mile below John Williams’, the nodules or sep-
taria of limestone assume the form of globes either perfect or a little flat-
~ tened, and are singularly marked with parallels and meridians, like the
lines of latitude and longitude on an artificial globe. One, three feet in
diameter, lies at the water’s edge broken into two hemispheres; another,
nine feet in circumference, lies in situs half raised above the water in the
middle of the stream, with its axis nearly perpendicular. The equatorial
part of this globe is raised like the rings of Saturn. Two others are in
the vertical bank twenty feet above the water, one of which is not a per-
fect globe, but a double conoid.

The Fine-Grained Sandstone at Rockville.

This is a fine building stone. It is procured from Waverly, Rockville,
and several localities. As a building stone it is not surpassed in the world.
The grain is so exceedingly fine that it appears when smoothed almost
compact. Its color is a drab and very uniform, varied occasionally by iron
stains Its fracture is dull and earthy, but so fine and soft as to have a
peculiarly velvety appearance. It works freely and generally endures
atmospheric agencies with little change, except it blackens somewhat from
a decomposition of sulphuret of iron intimately blended with it. It en-
dures the fire and answers well for the hearthstones of furnaces. Its sub-
stance is chiefly an aluminous and silicious deposit almost wholly destitute
of any calcareous matter. It lies in layers or strata nearly horizontal and
varying in thickness from a few inches to three or four feet, separated
mostly by simple joints or seams, having a little clay in them; sometimes
by a stratum of clay, and in two places traversed by a shale or soft slate
fifteen feet thick.

Heights Above Low Water at Cincinnati.

Topoftheslate........ooviiriiiiiiiiiieereinnnn. 261 feet.
White ledge ................... ettt 344 feet.
Cityledge. ...t 410 feet.
Beautiful quarry ... 465 feet.
Tronstratum ...... ... 517 feet.
Topofthehill .........coooiiiiiiii s, 542 feet.

Vieinity of Locust Grove.

Locust Grove occupies the cliff limestone at a lower level than its top.
The region to the north and east of it seems to have sunk from 200 to 400
feet, thus making the slate and sandstone occupy the level of the marl and
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cliff limestone in the outlying region. The channel of Crooked Creek i
the vicinity of *Massie’s Spring is not in the great marl stratum. Its place
seems to be occupied by thin layers of limestone. Near the spring the level
of the cliff limestone is occupied by sandstone in large upturned and broken
masses, from which it is evident that a region of no small extent had sunk
down several hundred feet, producing faults, dislocations, and upturnings
of the layers of rocks. The spring is an excellent sulphuretted water; on
the west side of it is a gray limestone, the cliff rising about fifteen feet,
while on the opposite side of it is slate dipping thirty degrees to the east.

Sunken Mountain.

To the east of Massie’s Spring lies a sandstone hill beyond and at the
foot of which is Mershon’s sulphur spring. Here the slate again is exposed
but dips in a direction opposite to that at Massie’s Spring. As the top of
the slate is found here more than 300 feet lower than in the strata in situs
in the surrounding knobs, and as these strata are broken and upturned, it
is evident that this mountain, at some remote period of time, sank down
from its original place. At Mershon’s Spring are found the ludus hel-
montii or septaria of the slate.

Pine Hill

lies to the east of Locust Grove about two miles. Its top is capped with
sandstone, and its height above low water mark at Cincinnati is 679 feet.

Rocks and Earths.

Blue limestone; clay marl; flinty limestone; sandy limestone; cal-
careous spar or clear, glass-like crystals of limestone ; hydraulic limestone,
being a compound lime, clay, fine sand and iron ; quartz crystals which will
scratch glass; chert or flinty nodules, often broken into sharp fragments;
sulphate of lime, gypsum; sulphate of baryta; slate or shale; clay; sand-
stone; red ochre; bright yellow ochre.

Ores.

Iron ore, limited.
Iron pyrites (fool’s gold), abundant.

Soluble Salts.

Epsom salts.
Alum.

Copperas.
Common salt, very sparing.

Combustibles.

Petroleum, or rock oil.

Bitumen, in the rocks.

Sulphur in the sulphur springs.

Sulphuretted hydrogen.

* This spring was formerly the property of General Massie and he errected s bath hom

and other bulidings there in order to make it & convenient ‘‘ watering place.” I
a8 the “Red Sulphur Spring.” € piace ¢ was known



CHAPTER Il

THE MOUND BUILDERS

The Great Serpent Mound—Old Stone Fort—Explorations of the Valley

of Brush Creek. -
kP .
Scattered over the vast extent of territory stretching from the Alle-
. ghanies on the east to the Rockies on the west; and extending from the
Great Lakes to the Gulf of Mexico, are landmarks of an ancient people
once inhabitants of this region, and whom, we, for the want of a more
specific term, call the Mound Builders Whence they came is enveloped in
impenetrable mystery. Some have supposed them to be the lost tribes of
Israel, which hardly deserves passing notice. Others, and there is much to
sustain the theory, suppose them to be of Mexican origin, having pushed
gradually to the northward, where, in time, they were assailed by invaders
from the northwest, who perhaps came from Asia when that continent was
united in the region of Alaska to America, and who by reason of superior
numbers or more warlike natures swept these people in turn back to the
southward.

At what period of time these people flourished, or when they ceased
to be, is problematical. The Indians had no tradition concerning them,
In fact, it is very generally believed by those who have investigated the
matter, that there was at least one intervening race of inhabitants in the
Mississippi Valley prior to the advent of the Indians and following the dis-
appearance of the Mound Builders. We refer to “The Villagers” who
formed the “garden beds” found in northern Indiana, southern Michigan
and lower Missouri. These “beds” are laid out with great order and sym-
metry and do not belong to any recognized system of horticulture. They
are in the richest soils and occupy from ten acres to three hundred acres
each. That they are the work of a race succeeding the Mound Builders,
is evidenced by the fact, that some of these “garden beds” extend over
mounds which certainly would not have been permitted by their builders.
Again the formation of these “beds” canunot be ascribed to the Indians for
no such system of cultivating grain or plant foods was practiced by them.

And again, when the white man’s attention was first called to the num-
erous mounds and enclosures in the Ohio Valley as being the work of an
extinct race, it was observed that forest growths over these works were of
the same species as those in the outlying regions, which would prove the
great antiquity of these structures. It is well known to persons skilled in
woodcraft that several generations of trees must come and go before bar-
ren soils will produce the variety and kinds of the virgin forest. As an il-
lustration, the writer observed that the “old coalings” in the vicinity of
Marble Furnace in Adams County, are covered with a dense growth of red

(20)
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oak saplings while the virgin forest consisted of ash, white oak, chestnut
oak, hickory and black maple. On some of these mounds, as for instance,
one at Marietta, Ohio, stood trees showing eight hundred annual growths.
When Squier and Davis made their surveys of the mounds of Ohio, in
1846, it is noted that a chestnut tree measuring twenty-one feet in circum-
ference, and an oak twenty-three feet in circumference grew on the walls
of “Fort Hill” in Highland County, in the vicinity of Sinking Springs.
From ca